# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-IA-01899-SCT

LINDA BREWER

VS.

JASON WILTCHER

RESPONDENT

# BRIEF OF APPELLANT LINDA BREWER ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI,

#### **ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED**

Stephen P. Kruger
Jan F. Gadow
PAGE, KRUGER & HOLLAND, P.A.
10 Canebrake Blvd., Ste. 200
P.O. Box 1163
Jackson, MS 39215
(601) 420-0333
(601) 420-0033 facsimile
Counsel for Appellant,
Linda Brewer

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

**LINDA BREWER** 

**PETITIONER** 

VS.

**JASON WILTCHER** 

RESPONDENT

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE**

Whether the trial court erred in denying Brewer's Motion to Dismiss/for Summary Judgment for lack of the pre-suit notice required by Miss. Code Ann. Section 15-1-36(15) when there is no proof that such notice was mailed, delivered, or received.

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jason Wiltcher ("Wiltcher") filed his Complaint on July 21, 2008<sup>1</sup>. (C.P. 6-8) Brewer filed her Motion to Dismiss on August 25, 2008, based solely on Wiltcher's failure to provide any notice of claim, as required by Miss. Code Ann. Section 15-1-36(15). (C.P. 12-14) Following oral argument on October 13, 2008, the Rankin County Circuit Court denied Brewer's Motion by Judgment entered on October 30, 2008. (T. 1; C.P. 40) Because she is entitled to dismissal at this procedural stage, Brewer filed a Petition for Interlocutory Appeal, pursuant to M.R.A.P. 5, which this Court granted by Order entered January 15, 2009. (C.P. 46) As a matter of law, Brewer is entitled to dismissal with prejudice from the underlying action based on Wiltcher's failure to provide pre-suit notice in compliance with the clear language of Miss. Code Ann. Section 15-1-36(15).

#### II. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT, UNDISPUTED FACTS

Jason Wiltcher presented to Pelahatchie Medical Clinic on August 21, 2006, complaining of an earache. (C.P. 7) Brewer, a Nurse Practitioner and employee of the Clinic, gave Wiltcher a Decadron injection. (C.P. 6-7) While in the Clinic waiting room, Wiltcher fainted and fell, allegedly suffering physical and mental injuries, which he claims are the result of Brewer's medical negligence. (C.P. 7)

Wiltcher filed his Complaint against Brewer and the Clinic on July 21, 2008. (C.P. 6-8) Brewer and the Clinic promptly filed a Motion to Dismiss on August 22, 2008, based on Wiltcher's failure to provide notice of his intent to file suit against them as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15). (C.P. 12-14) Wiltcher filed his Response to the Motion on October 2, 2008, acknowledging the applicability of Section 15-1-36(15) and offering only

unsworn assertions that his pre-suit notice had been placed in the United States mail on May 11, 2008. (C.P. 25-26) Attached to Wiltcher's Response is a copy of an unsigned letter from his attorney to Linda Brewer, dated May 11, 2008, advising of the intent to sue. (C.P. 27) Brewer and the Clinic filed a Reply on October 10, 2008, again denying any presuit notice and pointing out that Wiltcher's Response is merely an unsworn, unsupported and inadmissible assertion that pre-suit notice of claim was mailed. (C.P. 37-39)

At the October 13, 2008 hearing, Wiltcher's counsel testified that he dictated the notice of claim, corrected it, and told his assistant to send it out. (T. 5-6) However, Wiltcher's counsel admitted that he did not recall actually signing the notice of claim letter and that he does not keep signed copies in the normal course of his practice. (T. 6-7) More importantly, Wiltcher's counsel conceded that he has no personal knowledge that the notice was ever actually mailed and no personal knowledge that it was ever actually received by Brewer or by the Clinic. (T. 7-8) There is also no proof from counsel's assistant that the notice letter was actually mailed. In sum, Wiltcher has offered no competent proof that the pre-suit notice letter was either mailed or received. (T. 4-9)

Because matters outside the pleadings were presented and considered, the trial court treated Brewer's and the Clinic's Motion to Dismiss as one for Summary Judgment. (C.P. 40) The trial court granted the Motion as to the Clinic because the alleged notice was addressed only to Brewer and not to the Clinic. (T. 12) As to Brewer, the trial court discounted Wiltcher's failure of proof of pre-suit notice and denied the Motion, by Judgment entered on October 30, 2008. (T. 12; C.P. 40)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Substantively, the case against Brewer is without merit. However, she opted not to address the substantive issues in the trial court at the time she filed her Motion to Dismiss because it is clear that, procedurally, Wiltcher's claims against Brewer cannot proceed due to the lack of pre-suit notice of claim.

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mississippi law clearly and unambiguously provides that a plaintiff must provide 60 days' written notice to the defendant, of the plaintiff's intent to file suit, before a medical negligence action may be filed. Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15). Strict compliance with this pre-suit notice provision is required, making such notice in effect an element of Wiltcher's claim against Brewer. Wiltcher has failed to provide any proof establishing that he provided pre-suit notice of claim to Brewer; therefore, Brewer is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The trial court erred in finding otherwise and this Court must reverse.

IV. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING BREWER'S MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF PRE-SUIT NOTICE REQUIRED BY MISS. CODE ANN. § 15-1-36(15) BECAUSE THERE IS NO PROOF THAT SUCH NOTICE WAS MAILED, DELIVERED, OR RECEIVED.

This Court reviews denial of a motion to dismiss or for summary judgment under a de novo standard. Arceo v. Tolliver, 949 So.2d 691, 694 (¶ 6) (Miss. 2006) (citing Monsanto v. Hall, 912 So.2d 134, 136 (Miss. 2005)). Summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue of material fact and judgment is warranted as a matter of law. Scales v. Lackey Memorial Hospital, 988 So.2d 426, 431 (¶ 10) (Miss. App. 2008) (citing Mink v. Andrew Jackson Cas. Ins. Co., 537 So.2d 431, 432-33 (Miss. 1988)). The party opposing the motion must present sufficient proof to establish each element of his claim. Scales, 988 So.2d at 431 (¶ 10) (citing Galloway v. Travelers Ins. Co., 515 So.2d 678, 684 (Miss. 1987)). More than a scintilla of colorable evidence is required. Suddith v. University of Southern Mississippi, 977 So.2d 1158, 1166 (¶ 9) (Miss. App. 2007)(citations therein omitted). Specifically, when a party is opposing summary judgment, if he fails to present sufficient proof to establish any element of his claim, then all other

facts are immaterial and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. **Scales,** 988 So.2d at 431 (¶ 10) (citing **Galloway,** 515 So.2d at 684).

Miss. Code Ann. Section 15-1-36(15) provides that no medical negligence action filed after January 1, 2003<sup>2</sup>, can be initiated unless the plaintiff first gives the defendant at least sixty (60) days prior written notice of the plaintiff's intent to file suit. Specifically, this subsection states:

No action based upon the health care provider's professional negligence may be begun unless the defendant has been given at least sixty (60) days' prior written notice of the intention to begin the action. No particular form of notice is required, but it shall notify the defendant of the legal basis of the claim and the type of loss sustained, including with specificity the nature of the injuries suffered. If the notice is served within sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, the time for the commencement of the action shall be extended sixty (60) days from the service of the notice for said health care providers and others. This subsection shall not be applicable with respect to any defendant whose name is unknown to the plaintiff at the time of filing the complaint and who is identified therein by a fictitious name.

Miss. Code Ann. Section 15-1-36(15) (Rev. 2003). Strict compliance is required. *Williams v. Skelton*, 2008 WL 1795415, at \*1 (¶ 5) (Miss. App. 2008). It is the plaintiff's responsibility to provide this mandatory, jurisdictional notice to the defendant. *Andrews v. Arceo*, 988 So.2d 399, 402 (¶ 14) (Miss. App. 2008); *Saul v. Jenkins*, 963 So.2d 552, 554 (¶ 6) (Miss. 2007) (citing *Arceo v. Tolliver*, 949 So.2d 691, 695 (Miss. 2006) (citing *Pitalo v. GPCHP-GP*, *Inc.*, 933 So.2d 927, 928-29 (Miss. 2006))).

A trial court's denial of a defendant's motion to dismiss or for summary judgment when there is no pre-suit notice is error because the plaintiff's failure to give the required notice in compliance with this subsection is fatal to the continuation of his lawsuit.

\*Andrews\*, 988 So.2d at 403 (¶ 15); \*Forest Hill Nursing Center v. Brister\*, 992 So.2d 1179, 1188 (¶ 30) (Miss. 2008) (citing \*Arceo\*, 949 So.2d at 694-95) (citing \*Pitalo\*, 1188 (¶ 30) (Miss. 2008) (citing \*Arceo\*, 949 So.2d at 694-95).

933 So.2d at 928-29)); Arceo, 949 So.2d at 697 (¶ 14). See also Thomas v. Warden, 999 So.2d 842, 845 (¶ 14) (Miss. 2009) (citing Pitalo, 933 So.2d at 929). Dismissal of the lawsuit and/or summary judgment in favor of the defendant is appropriate when the plaintiff fails to comply with Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15). Williams, 2008 WL 1795415, at \*2 (¶ 6). Brewer's Motion seeks dismissal based on Wiltcher's failure to provide the statutorily required pre-suit notice of claim. (C.P. 12-13) As a jurisdictional pre-requisite to filing suit, the pre-suit notice of claim is in effect an element of Wiltcher's case. See Andrews, 988 So.2d at 402 (¶ 14). It follows that, in response to Brewer's Motion, Wiltcher bears the burden of presenting sufficient proof to establish that he provided the required statutory pre-suit notice. Scales, 988 So.2d at 431 (¶ 10) (citing Galloway v. Travelers Ins. Co., 515 So.2d 678, 684 (Miss. 1987)). He has failed to do so. (C.P. 25-32)

Section 15-1-36(15) provides that the requisite pre-suit notice "shall notify the defendant" of the basis for the claim and type of loss sustained. The legislature did not include any exceptions to this requirement of pre-suit notice. "Simply stated, 'shall' is mandatory." *Pitalo*, 933 So.2d at 929 (¶ 5). Brewer filed her Motion to Dismiss based on Wiltcher's failure to notify her of the intent to sue before he filed his Complaint. Wiltcher's counsel admitted that he has no recollection of signing the notice letter and no personal knowledge that the notice letter was ever mailed to or received by Brewer. (T. 6-7) These facts are undisputed. A *de novo* review reveals that, following responses, supplementations, and testimony at the hearing on Brewer's Motion, Wiltcher has still offered absolutely no evidence establishing that he complied with Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15) and provided Brewer with the mandatory, jurisdictional pre-suit notice. There is no genuine issue of material fact and judgment is warranted as a matter of law. *Scales*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Wiltcher filed his Complaint on July 21, 2008. (C.P. 6-8)

988 So.2d at 431 (citing *Mink*, 537 So.2d at 432-33). The trial court's denial of Brewer's Motion, with no evidence of pre-suit notice, is error. *Andrews*, 988 So.2d at 403 (¶ 15); *Forest Hill*, 992 So.2d at 1188 (¶ 30) (citing *Arceo*, 949 So.2d at 694-95) (citing *Pitalo*, 933 So.2d at 928-29)); *Arceo*, 949 So.2d at 697 (¶ 14).

In this case, the parties agree that Miss. Code Ann. Section 15-1-36(15) applies to require the 60 days pre-suit notice, but there is no evidence in the record to establish that such notice was either mailed or received. When there is no notice, denial of the defendant's motion to dismiss or for summary judgment is error. See Andrews, 988 So.2d at 403 (¶ 15); Nelson v. Baptist Mem. Hosp.-North Miss., Inc., 972 So.2d 667, 670, 672-73 (¶¶ 3, 17) (Miss. App. 2007); Forest Hill, 992 So.2d at 1187-88 (¶¶ 29-30); Arceo, 949 So.2d at 697 (¶ 14); Pitalo, 933 So.2d at 928-29 (¶¶ 1, 6, 7). Consequently, the trial court erred in discounting Wiltcher's complete failure of proof when it denied Brewer's Motion, contrary to Mississippi law.

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15) states clearly and unambiguously that no professional negligence action against a health care provider may be begun unless the defendant has first received at least sixty days' prior written notice. Brewer did not have sixty days' prior written notice. Consequently, Brewer's motion for summary judgment must be granted and Wiltcher's Complaint dismissed. *Williams*, 2008 WL 1795415, at \*2 (¶ 6); *Andrews*, 988 So.2d at 403 (¶¶ 15, 17, 19).

While the right under our state and federal constitutions to access to our courts is a matter beyond debate, this right is coupled with responsibility, including the responsibility to comply with legislative enactments, rules, and judicial decisions. While the plaintiff in today's case had the constitutional right to seek redress in our state courts . . . [he] likewise had the responsibility to comply with the applicable rules and statutes, including section 15-1-36(15). Any different approach would render meaningless any rule or statute setting time limitations on litigants.

*Arceo*, 949 So.2d at 697 (¶ 13). Wiltcher's failure to provide Brewer with pre-suit notice of the intent to sue is "an inexcusable deviation from the Legislature's requirements for process and notice under Miss. Code Ann. Section 15-1-36(15)." *Pitalo*, 933 So.2d at 929 (¶ 7).

#### V. CONCLUSION

Wiltcher agrees that Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15) applies to his underlying cause. The facts are undisputed and the law is clear. The statute requires 60 days' pre-suit notice of an intent to file suit, but there is no evidence in the record establishing that any such notice was mailed or received. The trial court erred by overlooking this complete failure of proof when it denied Brewer's Motion. This Court should reverse the trial court's denial of Brewer's Motion and render summary judgment in favor of Brewer.

THIS, the 13th day of April, 2009.