COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-IA-01899-SCT

LINDA BREWER

FILED

PETITIONER

VS.

JASON WILTCHER

JUN 17 2009 OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

RESPONDENT

BRIEF OF APPELLEE JASON WILTCHER ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI,

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Doug Wade

Louis J. Guichet, III Guichet Law Firm, PLLC 111 Belle Meade Point Suite A Flowood, Mississippi 39232 Telephone (601) 919-8931 Fax (601) 919-8994 Counsel for Appellee, Jason Wiltcher

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

LINDA BREWER

PETITIONER

VS.

JASON WILTCHER

RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the trial court erred in denying Brewer's Motion to Dismiss/for Summary Judgment when there is proof of pre-suit notice required by Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15) and when there is <u>no proof</u> that the notice was not received by the Defendant.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jason Wiltcher ("Wiltcher") filed his complaint on July 21, 2008. (C.P. 6-8) Brewer filed her Motion to Dismiss on August 25, 2008, based solely on her claim that Wiltcher did not provide any notice of claim, as required by Miss Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15). (C.P. 12-14) Following oral argument on October 13, 2008, the Rankin County Circuit Court denied Brewer's Motion by Judgment entered on October 30, 2008. (T. 1; C.P. 40) Brewer filed a petition for an Interlocutory Appeal, pursuant to M.R.A.P. 5, which this Court granted by order entered January 15, 2009.

II. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT, UNDISPUTED FACTS

Jason Wiltcher presented to Pelahatchie Medical Clinic on August 21, 2006, complaining of an earache. (C.P. 7) Brewer, a Nurse Practitioner and employee of the Clinic, gave Wiltcher a Decadron injection. (C.P. 6-7) While in the clinic waiting room, Wiltcher fainted and fell, suffering physical and mental injuries, which he claims are the result of Brewer's medical negligence. (C.P. 7)

Wiltcher filed his Complaint against Brewer on July 21, 2008, but did not have the Pelahatchie Medical Clinic served with a process of the Court. (C.P. 6-8) Brewer and the Clinic promptly filed a Motion to Dismiss on August 22, 2008, based on their claim that he did not file notice of his intent to file suit against them as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15). (C.P. 12-14) Wiltcher filed his response to the motion on October 2, 2008, acknowledging the applicability of § 15-1-36(15) and stated that his pre-suit notice had been placed in the United States mail on May 11, 2008. (C.P. 25-26) Attached to Wiltcher's response is a copy of an unsigned letter from his Attorney to Linda Brewer, dated May 11, 2008, advising of the intent to sue. (C.P. 27) Brewer and the Clinic filed a reply on October 10, 2008, denying any pre-suit notice and pointing out that Wiltcher's Response of an unsworn, unsupported and

t,

í

inadmissible assertion that the pre-suit notice of claim was mailed. (C.P.37-39) At no time did the Defendants deny they had received the pre-suit letter.

At the October 13, 2008 hearing, Wiltcher's counsel testified that he dictated the notice of claim, corrected it, and told his assistant to send it out. (T. 5-6) Wiltcher's counsel stated that he did not recall actually signing the notice of claim letter and that he did not keep signed copies in the normal course of his practice. (T. 6-7) Wiltcher's counsel also stated that he has *no personal knowledge that the notice was ever actually mailed and no personal knowledge that it was ever actually received* by Brewer or by the Clinic. (T. 7-8) Again, there is no proof in the record that the notice letter was not received. The Rankin County Circuit Judge stated on page 12, lines 2 through 4, "Your client is not here to say", "I didn't get it." "So, it's kind of the same thing to me."

Because matters outside the pleadings were presented and considered, the trial court treated Brewer's and the Clinic's Motion to Dismiss as one for Summary Judgment. (C.P. 40) The trial court granted the Motion as to the clinic because the notice was addressed only to Brewer and not to the Clinic. (T. 12) As to Brewer, the trial court found that notice was sent as required and entered judgment in favor of the Plaintiff.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

57

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 (15) states that no action may be begun unless the Defendant has been given at least sixty (60) days prior written notice. The code also states the requirement as to the substance of the notice. In addition, the notice is to be served sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations. There is no other requirement contained in the statute relating to notice. On page 5 of the trial court transcript lines 23 through 28, Doug Wade Attorney for Plaintiff, testified that he followed the procedure contained in the statute in giving the required notice. Therefore, there was an

issue to be determined by the trial court as to whether the required notice was given. The trial court resolved the issue in favor of the Plaintiff.

IV. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVERRULING BREWER'S MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF PRE-SUIT NOTICE REQUIRED BY MISS. CODE ANN. § 15-1-36 (15) BECAUSE THERE IS PROOF THAT THE NOTICE WAS SENT AND BREWER DID NOT DENY THAT IT WAS RECEIVED.

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15) states:

No action based upon the health care provider's professional negligence may be begun unless the defendant has been given at least sixty (60) days' prior written notice of the intention to begin the action. No particular form of notice is required, but it shall notify the defendant of the legal basis of the claim and the type of loss sustained, including with specificity the nature of the injuries suffered. If the notice is served within sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, the time for the commencement of the action shall be extended sixty (60) days from the service of the notice for said health care providers and others. This subsection shall not be applicable with respect to any defendant whose name is unknown to the plaintiff at the time of filing the complaint and who is identified therein by a fictitious name.

Mississippi law provides that a notice must be served at least sixty (60) days prior written notice of the intention to begin the action. The statute further provides no particular form is required, but it shall notify the Defendant of the legal basis of the claim and the type of loss sustained, including with specificity the nature of the injuries suffered by Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36(15). Appellee gave notice as required by the statutes and the receipt of the notice by appellant was not denied. The trial court did not err in overruling appellant's Motion to Dismiss.

The Trial Court found in its ruling that the required letter addressed to Linda Brewer was introduced into evidence by Plaintiffs counsel. Further, it found that the letter was mailed to her business address. Attorney Doug Wade testified that the letter was mailed to Ms. Brewer as indicated in the letter on May 11, 2008.

Mr. Wade further testified that the letter was read back to him for corrections. When it was corrected, he signed the original and told her to put it in the mail being the ordinary course of practice. In addition, the Court stated your client is not here to say, "I didn't get it."

M.R.C.P. Rule 5(b) states that service by mail is complete upon mailing.

M.R.C.P. Rule 406. Habit; routine practice.

ŝ.

Evidence of the habit of a person or of the routine practice of an organization, whether corroborated or not and regardless of the presence of eyewitnesses, is relevant to prove that the conduct of the person or organization on a particular occasion was in conformity with the habit or routine practice.

M.R.C.P. Rule 56 (c) Summary Judgment. Motion and Proceedings Thereon.

The motion shall be served at least ten (10) days before the time fixed for the hearing. The adverse party prior to the day of the hearing may serve opposing affidavits. The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. Under the comments of Rule 56 is found this language: A motion for a summary judgment lies only when there is no genuine issue of material fact. Summary judgment is not a substitute for the trial of disputed fact issues.

In <u>Dennis v. Searle</u>, 457 So. 2d 941 (Miss. 1984) is found the following language.

"The trial court must review carefully all of the evidentiary matters before it--- admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc. The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made. If in this view the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, summary judgment should forthwith be entered in his favor. Otherwise the motion should be denied. 444 So.2d at 362.

Issues of fact sufficient to require denial of a motion for summary judgment obviously are present where one party swears to one version of the matter in issue and another says just the opposite. Issues of fact, as a matter of proper construction of Rule 56, also exist where there is more than one reasonable interpretation that may be given undisputed testimony, where materially differing but nevertheless reasonable inferences may be drawn from the uncontradicted facts, or where the purported establishment of the facts has been sufficiently incomplete or inadequate that the trial judge cannot say with reasonable confidence that the full facts of the matter have been disclosed.

Yet, if we are to give substantial deference to findings made by a trial judge sitting without a jury because that judge has had the opportunity to smell the smoke of the battle, *Culbreath v. Johnson*, 427 So.2d 705, 708 (Miss.1983), we expect that he or she will in fact have smelled that smoke. Put more legalistically, Rule 56 means the same and should be construed the same whether the motion for summary judgment is filed in circuit court or chancery court, whether the case is to be heard by a jury or is to be tried to the court without a jury."

5

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The trial court correctly ruled that notice was sent by Appellee to Appellant based on oral testimony and documentary evidence introduced at the hearing on Appellant's motion. It was established that there was a genuine issue of material fact existing between Appellee and Appellant and the trial court properly dismissed Appellants motion.

THIS, the 17th day of June, 2009.

Respectfully submitted,

JASON WILTCHER, APPELLEE (Ade BY Doue Wade

Louis J. Guichet, III

OF COUNSEL: Doug Wade **Constant of** Louis J. Guichet, III **Constant of** Guichet Law Firm, PLLC 111 Belle Meade Point Suite A Flowood, Mississippi 39232 Telephone (601) 919-8931 Fax (601) 919-8994